**FILED** 12-15-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP809-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

### JUNIOR L. WILLIAMS-HOLMES,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision from the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Bruce Schroeder, Presiding.

# **BRIEF OF** DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. The circuit court ordered that Junior L. Williams-Holmes obtain permission from the court before living with women or children not related to him by blood as a condition of his probation and extended supervision. Did the circuit court have statutory authority to require Mr. Williams-Holmes to return to court for permission, instead of his agent, where the statutes grant the Department of Corrections exclusive authority to administer probation and extended supervision?

The circuit court imposed the condition and denied Mr. Williams-Holmes' postconviction motion to amend the condition to require permission from his DOC agent.

The court of appeals affirmed, but modified the circuit court's condition, holding that "permission" had to be obtained through the statutory processes for modifying terms of probation or extended supervision, rather than through informal communication between the court and agent.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 23, 2019, Junior Williams-Holmes pled guilty to two counts of battery as a repeater, one count of false imprisonment as a repeater, and one count of misdemeanor bail jumping as a repeater. (31.) The complaint alleged that Mr.

Williams-Holmes committed acts of domestic abuse against his girlfriend over two days in June 2019. (1.)

On November 25, 2019, the court, the Honorable Bruce Schroeder, sentenced Mr. Williams-Holmes to two years in confinement, followed by two years of extended supervision on two of the counts. (36:15-16.) The court withheld sentence on the other two counts, and placed Mr. Williams-Holmes on three years of consecutive probation. (36:16.)

When ordering conditions of extended supervision and probation, the court said: "Given the history of domestic violence, you're not to reside with any member of the opposite sex without the permission of the Court, nor reside with any child who is not related to you by blood without the permission of the Court." (36:16; App. 27.) That condition is reflected on the judgments of conviction that were entered. (31:2, 4; App. 23, 25.)

Mr. Williams-Holmes filed a postconviction motion, arguing that the condition must be modified to require him to get permission from his supervising agent, not the court, before living with women or children not related to him. (58.) The motion argued that Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3) grants the Department of Corrections (DOC), not the court, the authority to administer probation. Therefore, the circuit court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The circuit court's condition specifies that it exempts children unrelated to him *by blood*. For simplicity, this brief generally refers to the condition as requiring permission to live with women or unrelated children, omitting reference to the biological connection.

lacked statutory authority to administer the condition and determine which particular women or children Mr. Williams-Holmes could live with.

The circuit court denied the motion, reasoning that because it was permitted to impose conditions of supervision, it was also permitted to monitor and administer those conditions. (62; 64; App. 18.) The court further explained that it did not believe the DOC could be trusted to administer the condition because agents were too lax when applying the condition. (64:3-4; App. 6-7.) The court included an email exchange between the judge and a DOC agent in an unrelated case, where the DOC agent asked the judge to allow a defendant to live with particular women and children. (64:3-4; App. 20-21.) The judge indicated that he had researched that defendant's court records from a different county, and concluded he would be unwilling to let the defendant live in the proposed home without more information. (64:3-4; App. 20-21.) The judge relied on his experience in that case to justify the condition in this case. (64:4; App. 21.)

The court of appeals affirmed, but clarified that "permission" to live with women or children could not take the informal form of emails between the agent and judge. State v. Williams-Holmes, 2022 WI App 38, ¶17, 404 Wis. 2d 88, 978 N.W.2d 523; (App. 11-12). The court held that this would amount to the court "managing, impermissibly directing. and superintending this supervision condition on situation-by-situation basis. This is the department's role." *Id.* (internal citation omitted). Instead, the court of appeals held that to grant "permission" to live with

particular women or children, Mr. Williams-Holmes would have to engage the statutory processes for modifying conditions of probation or extended supervision under Wis. Stat. §§ 973.09(3)(a) and 302.113(7m)(a). *Id.*, ¶18; (App. 12-13). Thus, Mr. Williams-Holmes would be barred from living with any women or unrelated children until he returned to court to seek an amended judgment of conviction to identify particular women or children to live with. See id.

Mr. Williams-Holmes for moved reconsideration, arguing that even if the statutory processes for modifying supervision were followed, the circuit court was still impermissibly "administering" supervision by managing the specific women and children that he could live with. The motion also noted the impracticality of engaging the modification process—which involves a series of due process protections—anytime Mr. Williams-Holmes sought to live with someone new. The court of appeals denied reconsideration.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The condition of supervision must be amended to require permission from the Department of Corrections, not the court, before Mr. Williams-Holmes may live with women or children not related to him by blood.

The statutes vest the DOC with the exclusive authority to administer rules of probation and extended supervision. Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3). The circuit court has attempted to circumvent this statutory directive, and empower itself to decide which particular women or unrelated children Mr. Williams-Holmes can reside with during his term of supervision. This court should reverse and remand with instructions that the condition be amended to require the DOC agent, not the court, to decide which women or unrelated children Mr. Williams-Holmes may reside with.

A. The statutes grant the DOC exclusive authority to administer probation and extended supervision.

The circuit court has broad discretion in setting conditions of both extended supervision and probation. State v. Miller, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47; Wis. Stat. §  $973.01(5)^2$  (concerning extended supervision conditions);  $State\ v$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Whenever the court imposes a bifurcated sentence under sub. (1), the court may impose conditions upon the term of extended supervision." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(5).

*Miller*, 175 Wis. 2d 204, 208, 499 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1993); Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a)<sup>3</sup> (concerning probation conditions). For both types of supervision, the court is permitted to impose reasonable and appropriate conditions intended to rehabilitate the defendant and protect the community. *Id*.

The issue in this case does not turn on the court's discretion to impose a particular condition of supervision. 4 Mr. Williams-Holmes does not challenge the court's authority to impose a condition limiting his ability to live with women and unrelated children. Rather, this case turns on the circuit court's statutory authority to administer that condition. Thus, the issue is one of statutory interpretation, which this court reviews independently. State v. Gray, 225 Wis. 2d 39, 66, 590 N.W.2d 918 (1999).

The DOC has exclusive control over persons serving terms of probation and extended supervision. "Imposition of probation shall have the effect of placing the defendant in the custody of the [DOC] and shall subject the defendant to the control of the department . . . ." Wis. Stat. § 973.10(1). The DOC is responsible for "[a]dminister[ing] parole, extended

<sup>3</sup> "The court may impose any conditions [of probation] which appear to be reasonable and appropriate." Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a).

<sup>4</sup> This case involves an identical condition of extended supervision and probation. Although "extended supervision and probation are not the same," the differences are immaterial to the issue in this appeal. State v. Galvan, 2007 WI App 173, ¶14, 304 Wis. 2d 466, 736 N.W.2d 890. Therefore, this brief will refer to the conditions jointly as a condition of "supervision."

supervision, and probation matters . . . . " Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3).

The statutes do not authorize the circuit court to administer supervision, to revoke supervision, or to control supervised offenders. The circuit court's role is limited to setting conditions of supervision. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(5); 973.09(1)(a). In contrast, the DOC is vested with sole statutory authority to administer supervision, control the offender, and sanction rule violations. Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3)(a)-(c); Wis. Stat.  $\S 973.10.5$ 

The circuit court's authority in matters related to probation and extended supervision is limited to those granted by the legislature. Probation is purely a statutory creation; without the statute the court would have no authority to place a defendant on probation. State v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶¶23, 26, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 926 N.W.2d 742. The same is necessarily true for extended supervision, which did not exist until the legislature adopted Truth in Sentencing. See State v. Brown, 2006 WI 131, ¶44, 298 Wis. 2d 37, 725 N.W.2d 262. Under these statutory creations, the circuit court's authority extends no further than the statutes provide. Because the authority for a circuit court to administer supervision does not appear in the statutes, it does not exist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Department of Administration is responsible for revocation proceedings, when necessary. Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3).

В. Caselaw supports this separation of powers and reinforces the court's inability to administer a condition once imposed.

Caselaw confirms that the circuit court's role is limited to ordering a term of supervision, setting conditions, and determining the sentence to be served if supervision is revoked. See State v. Horn, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 649, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999). In Horn, the circuit court ruled that only the judicial branch could revoke probation, so the statute vesting that authority in the executive branch was unconstitutional. Id. at 641-42.

holding This court reversed. that the "administration of probation" was the responsibility of the executive branch. Id. at 651-52. The court observed that the legislature had granted the circuit court authority to impose a sentence, but that the judicial role ended at that point: "Whether a convicted defendant is sentenced to prison or the circuit court imposes probation, the adversary system has terminated and the administrative process, vested in the executive branch of the government, directed to the correctional and rehabilitative processes of the parole and probation system has been substituted in its place." *Id.* at 650 (internal punctuation omitted).

In another case, occurring before Horn was decided, the circuit court conducted a probation revocation hearing and revoked the defendant. State v. Burchfield, 230 Wis. 2d 348, 602 N.W.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1999). The defendant appealed and the State conceded that the circuit court had no authority to revoke

probation because the statute gave that power to the DOC. Id. at 353-54. The court of appeals agreed and reversed, holding that "the executive branch has exclusive statutory authority to administer and to revoke probation." Id. at 349 (emphasis added).

Though *Horn* and *Burchfield* correctly read the statutes to grant the DOC exclusive authority to administer supervision, neither case defines what it means to "administer" probation. Previously, this dictionary,<sup>6</sup> held that court. relying on the "administer" means "to manage the affairs of[;] to direct or superintend the execution, use, or conduct of[;] to manage or conduct affairs[.]" Wisconsin Dep't of Tax'n v. Pabst, 15 Wis. 2d 195, 201, 112 N.W.2d 161 (1961); see also Manitowoc Cnty. v. Loc. 986A, AFSCME, AFL-CIO, 170 Wis. 2d 692, 698, 489 N.W.2d 722, (Ct. App. 1992) (citing the same definitions). Merriam-Webster defines the term similarly: "to manage or supervise the execution, use, or conduct of." Merriam-Webster Dictionary, availableathttps://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ administer.

These definitions make plain that the circuit court's condition improperly seeks to administer Mr. Williams-Holmes' supervision. The condition directed at deciding which specific women or unrelated children Mr. Williams-Holmes can reside with. In this way, it seeks to "manage the affairs" of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When the statutes do not define a term, the court relies on ordinary, dictionary definitions. State v. A.L., 2019 WI 20, ¶16, 385 Wis. 2d 612, 923 N.W.2d 827.

Filed 12-15-2022

supervision. Rather than delegating the specifics to the agent, the condition contemplates that the judge will make day-to-day decisions about where Mr. Williams-Holmes can live. And the court of appeals agreed that these routine decisions about Mr. Williams-Holmes' living situation was the improper administration of supervision, holding that "managing, directing, and superintending this supervision condition on a situation-by-situation basis" would require the court to improperly administer the condition. Williams-Holmes, 2022 WI App 38, ¶17; (App. 12).

The circuit court's statutory role was to impose the condition, restricting Mr. Williams-Holmes' ability to live with women or unrelated children. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(5), 973.09(1)(a). Deciding which women and children inherently calls for the administration of that condition; it calls for "manag[ing] or supervis[ing] the execution" of the court's supervision condition, which is the exclusive role of the DOC. Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3); Merriam-Webster Dictionary, availableathttps://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ administer.

The circuit court's limited authority after ordering supervision was recognized in State v. Schell. 2003 WI App 78, 261 Wis. 2d 841, 661 N.W.2d 503. There, the circuit court ordered the defendant to serve a term of probation, and imposed 100 days in jail as a condition of probation. Id., ¶3. The sheriff's office, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 302.425, placed the defendant on home monitoring for the jail term. Id., ¶5. The defendant's ex-husband's wife complained to the court,

and the court ordered the defendant ineligible for home monitoring for the jail term. *Id*.

The court of appeals reversed, relying on *Horn*. The court held that the circuit court's authority ended after it ordered probation, and the statutes permitted the sheriff to release the defendant on home monitoring. *Id.*, ¶¶16, 18. The circuit court's authority was limited to that conferred by the statutes; the court could not override the sheriff's statutory authority to manage the county jails and place persons on home monitoring. Id.

A circuit court cannot invade the statutory role set out for the DOC, anymore than it could invade the sheriff's statutory role in Schell. The circuit court had no authority to decide how its condition was carried out. Once the condition was imposed, "the adversary system [was] terminated and the administrative process, vested in the executive branch of the directed to the correctional government. rehabilitative processes of the parole and probation system [was] substituted in its place." Horn, 226 Wis. 2d at 650. The same reasoning applies here; the court could limit Mr. Williams-Holmes' ability to live with women or unrelated children, just as the court could order a conditional jail sentence in Schell. But the court must delegate the administration of that condition—the determination of which particular women or unrelated children Mr. Williams-Holmes could live with—to the DOC agent.

C. The circuit court cannot use its authority to modify conditions of supervision to circumvent the statutes and invade the DOC's role.

The court of appeals recognized that the informal process contemplated by the circuit court where the judge exchanged emails with the DOC agent to approve particular living situations—required the court to improperly administer supervision. Williams-Holmes, 2022 WI App 38, ¶17; (App. 12). But the court of appeals' proposed remedy doesn't solve that problem.

The court of appeals held that the circuit court could control which specific women or unrelated children Mr. Williams-Holmes lived with, but the "permission" had to be obtained through the statutory processes for amending conditions of probation or extended supervision. But this merely invites circuit courts to make an end-run around the DOC's exclusive authority to administer conditions of supervision. The court of appeals does not explain why this day-to-day management of the people Mr. Williams-Holmes can live with constitutes the administration of supervision if done informally, but is not administration if done through modification of the supervisory condition.

A circuit court can "modify" a condition of extended supervision. probation or Wis. Stat. §§302.117(7m) & 973.09(3)(a). This statutory authority allows the court to accomplish the theory of probation. State v. Hays, 173 Wis. 2d 439, 445, 496 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1992). In *Hays*, for example, the

court added a jail term as a condition of the defendant's probation after the defendant repeatedly violated the rules of supervision. *Id.*, at 442-43.

In Linse, a circuit court ordered that the defendant not have contact with the victim as a rule of probation. State ex rel. Taylor v. Linse, 161 Wis. 2d 719, 722, 469 N.W.2d 201 (Ct. App. 1991). The agent added a condition restricting the defendant's travel to a particular town. *Id.* The court struck that condition, finding that it was "inconsistent with the defendant's rehabilitation because it restricted his ability to establish a normal parental relationship with his daughter, including engaging in a extracurricular and social activities that the court important to the defendant's believed were rehabilitation." Id. The question on appeal was whether the court could modify a DOC-imposed rule of probation. The court of appeals held that the circuit court could use its statutory authority to modify conditions of probation to modify a DOC-imposed condition when it conflicted with the court's goals for the term of supervision. *Id.* at 723-24.

However, neither *Linse* nor the statutes invite circuit courts to preemptively manage the day-to-day affairs of individuals on supervision by requiring court-permission to engage in certain conduct. Rather, the modification process operates much like the process for setting conditions in the first place. The court determines the appropriate modification and amends the judgment to reflect the modification, but leaves to the DOC agent the responsibility to manage and administer the condition.

The due process protections required when conditions of supervision modifying make impractical to reply on that authority to micromanage persons on supervision. In Hays, the court held that a probationer is entitled to a series of rights at a hearing to modify a condition, including: "(1) to be notified of the hearing and the reasons that are asserted in support of the request to modify probation; (2) to be present at the hearing; (3) to be given the chance to cross-examine witnesses, present witnesses, present other evidence and the right of allocution; (4) to have the conditions of probation modified on the basis of true and correct information; and (5) to be represented by counsel if confinement to the county jail is a potential modification of the conditions of probation." 173 Wis. 2d at 446-47. Additionally, whichever party seeks to modify the condition must "establish by a clear preponderance of the evidence that there is cause to modify the terms and conditions of probation." Id. at 448.<sup>7</sup>

These protections confirm that the process for modifying supervision conditions is not an invitation for circuit courts to circumvent the DOC. It would be truly impractical to hold a hearing and take testimony anytime the defendant sought to live with someone new. The procedure would also be redundant, as the standard terms of supervision require a defendant to get agent permission before changing his or her residence. Wis. Admin. Code (DOC) § 328.04(2)(h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Though *Hays* addressed only a condition of probation, there is no principled reason to conclude the protections would be any different to modify a condition of extended supervision.

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