FILED 01-25-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP809-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUNIOR L. WILLIAMS-HOLMES,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF. BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Williams-Holmes's challenged supervision condition, as clarified by the court of appeals, does not intrude upon DOC's exclusive authority to administer probation or extended supervision.

Disregarding the broad discretion circuit courts hold at sentencing, Williams-Holmes asks this Court to ignore the probationary program envisioned by the judge who sentenced him and modify his judgment of conviction so that he need only ask DOC to live in any home he wishes. (See Williams-Holmes's Br. 10.) The court of appeals properly rejected that invitation, and this Court should, too. The legislature vested circuit courts with authority to impose suitable conditions of supervision and modify those conditions, if appropriate. Because the circuit court satisfied the former with willingness to entertain the latter, this Court should affirm.

Circuit courts maintain broad discretion in Α. modifying imposing and supervision conditions further itsprobationary \mathbf{to} and DOC program, is charged enforcing those conditions.

Defining the separation of powers between respective government branches, this Court has explained "the legislature has constitutional authority to offer probation as an alternative to sentencing, the judiciary has authority to impose probation, and the executive branch has the authority to administer probation." *State v. Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 648, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999).

Whether placing a defendant on probation or imposing a bifurcated prison sentence, a circuit court also maintains broad discretion in setting community supervision conditions. State v. King, 2020 WI App 66, ¶ 20, 394 Wis. 2d 431, 950 N.W.2d 891; State v. Hoppe, 2014 WI App 51, ¶ 7, 354 Wis. 2d 219, 847 N.W.2d 869; Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01, 973.09(1)(a). Protecting that exercise of discretion, this Court has routinely upheld conditions guaranteed to impact important facets of a defendant's day-to-day life—even those that have the practical effect of curtailing constitutional rights—as long as the conditions were both reasonable and appropriate. See, e.g., State v. Rowan, 2012 WI 60, ¶¶ 11–19, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854 (upholding condition allowing police to search defendant's person, vehicle, or residence for firearms at any time, without reasonable suspicion); State v. Oakley, 2001 WI 103, ¶¶ 20–21, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200 (upholding condition prohibiting defendant from having more children unless he proved ability to support current and expected children); State v. Sepulveda, 119 Wis. 2d 546, 557, 350 N.W.2d 96 (1984) (upholding condition requiring probationer to admit himself to Mendota Mental Health Institute for "intensive care and treatment").

Filed 01-25-2023

Once a circuit court places a defendant on probation or sentences him to prison with a term of extended supervision, "[t]he adversarv system has terminated and administrative process, vested in the executive branch of the government, directed to the correctional and rehabilitative processes of the parole and probation system has been substituted in its place." Horn, 226 Wis. 2d at 650 (quoting State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady, 50 Wis. 2d 540, 546, 185 N.W.2d 306 (1971)).

Whether immediately placed on probation or released on extended supervision after a term of prison confinement, an offender is deemed "in the custody of the department" and "subject . . . to the control of the department under conditions set by the court and rules and regulations established by the department for the supervision of probationers, parolees and persons on extended supervision." Wis. Stat. § 973.10(1). Thereafter, DOC is tasked with administering probation and extended supervision, which includes sanctioning violations of supervision conditions. Wis. Stat. § 301.03(3).

While a sentencing hearing's end marks a line where one government branch's work generally stops and another's begins, a circuit court does not lose the ability to ensure its sentencing goals are honored during a person's supervision. While Williams-Holmes might be quick to accuse a circuit court of meddling in another government branch's duties, this Court has recognized, despite the effect it is bound to have on a person's everyday life, that "inherent within the probation statute is the court's continued power to effectuate the dual purposes of probation, namely, rehabilitating the defendant and protecting society, through the court's authority to modify or extend probationary terms." Sepulveda, 119 Wis. 2d at 554 (emphasis added); see also State v. Hays, 173 Wis. 2d 439, 445, 496 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1992).

Codifying that judicial authority, the legislature has explicitly permitted circuit courts to modify existing supervision conditions after a person's term of probation or extended supervision has already commenced. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(7m)(a), 973.09(3)(a). Unsurprisingly, circuit courts have at times invoked that authority to modify supervision conditions when DOC either fails to act or acts contrary to the court's anticipated "probationary program." See, e.g., State ex rel. Taylor v. Linse, 161 Wis. 2d 719, 725, 469 N.W.2d 201 (Ct. App. 1991) (affirming a circuit court's modification of a DOC rule prohibiting probationer from traveling into Eau Galle, Wisconsin, during the term of his supervision).

The court of appeals squarely rejected the notion that allowing circuit courts to veto inconsistent DOC rules would "create an administrative nightmare with the courts continually interfering with and modifying specifical rules of supervision imposed by the department." Id. Rather, the court observed that circuit courts were unlikely to "rush to oversee the special rules of supervision imposed by the department," and if they did, the legislature was in the best position to solve that problem. *Id.* at 725–26.

В. Requiring Williams-Holmes to petition the court for permission to reside with women or unrelated children violates no state appellate authority, or the statute, separation of powers doctrine.

Troubled by Williams-Holmes's history of violence and the evident risk he posed to others following his eventual release from custody, the circuit court fashioned a sentence barring him from living with women and unrelated children unless he returned to the court and proved he was "going to be a responsible individual." (R. 57:16–17.) While the circuit court could have been clearer describing the mechanism by which Williams-Holmes must obtain its "permission" to live

Filed 01-25-2023

with women and children, this Court should affirm because the offending condition, as clarified by the court of appeals, constituted a sound exercise of sentencing discretion violating neither state statute, Wisconsin caselaw, nor the separation of powers doctrine.

To begin, it's imperative to recognize what Williams-Holmes does and does not dispute. In his brief filed with this Court, just like one of his briefs filed in the court of appeals, he has expressly disavowed any challenge to the circuit court's authority to impose a condition prohibiting him from living with women or unrelated children. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 11; Williams-Holmes's Court of Appeals Br. 7.)

That concession is surely not surprising. Given his atrocious criminal history, a condition barring a violent offender like Williams-Holmes from residing with women and unrelated children is certainly "reasonable and appropriate." Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1). Not only is it both reasonable and appropriate, but it also passes constitutional muster, having survived prior overbreadth challenges. *State v. Luckett*, No. 2009AP2679-CR, 2010 WL 1567169, ¶¶ 1, 11–16 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 21, 2010) (unpublished). And Wisconsin courts are not alone in that assessment. *See, e.g., Belt v. State*, 127 S.W.3d 277 (Tex. App. 2004) (upholding condition prohibiting probationer from living with children under the age of 18).

Obligated to consider not only his rehabilitative needs and the gravity of his offenses but also the need to protect the public from unchecked domestic violence, *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 44, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, the circuit court's decision to order a condition prohibiting Williams-Holmes from living with women and unrelated children was certainly rational, and he does not dispute that, (Williams-Holmes's Br. 11). Rather, his problem with the condition is that it contemplates future modification from the beginning. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 24.) In his view, that structure

Filed 01-25-2023

improperly invites "the circuit court's involvement in the dayto-day management of the condition," in violation of statutes that vest DOC with the exclusive authority to administer probation and extended supervision, Wisconsin caselaw, and general separation of powers principles. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 11–13, 16–17, 20, 24–25.)

But the condition does nothing of the sort.

For starters, it certainly violates no statute. On the contrary, it contemplates Williams-Holmes's use of existing statutes that allow probationers and individuals released on extended supervision to seek modification of their supervision conditions. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(7m), 973.09(3). As the court of appeals observed, the circuit court could lawfully require Williams-Holmes to seek its "permission" to live with women and unrelated children by complying with the procedures set forth in those two statutes as it would "merely amount to a statutorily authorized modification of the conditions of supervision." Williams-Holmes, 404 Wis. 2d 88, ¶ 18. That interpretation makes practical sense, too; the legislature that vested DOC with exclusive control over probationers still enacted statutes permitting courts to later modify conditions, reinforcing its power to take action affecting those people's lives well after their supervision has begun.

The main problem with Williams-Holmes's argument is that he labels any circuit court action that might affect his day-to-day life as "administering" his probation and extended supervision. (See Williams-Holmes's Br. 12, 14–15, 17.) But the circuit court's willingness to relax one of his supervision conditions if he can demonstrate an ability to live with women and children without harming or assaulting them hardly constitutes day-to-day administration or management of probation or extended supervision.

Williams-Holmes's characterization of the condition as the court's improperly administering his supervision plainly

Filed 01-25-2023

derives from his exaggerated concern that he will be forced to communicate with the court about his living arrangements on a day-to-day basis. (See Williams-Holmes's Br. 14–15, 17, 24.) But nothing in the court's sentencing comments or written order anticipates micromanagement rising to the level of "administering" supervision. Under no circumstances will the court assume the role of a de facto probation agent, requiring Williams-Holmes to remain in constant communication to seek permission to live with Jane and her son on Monday, with Mary and her daughter on Thursday, and with Lisa and her sister on Saturday. Rather, upon proving that he can suppress his violent tendencies toward women and children, Williams-Holmes can obtain a modification to his supervision conditions that will allow him to live with any women or children he chooses. That is not administering supervision; it is using the statutory authority the legislature has afforded to modify supervision conditions.

Just as Williams-Holmes cannot establish that the offending condition violates any state statute, he also cannot show that it violates any Wisconsin caselaw. While he has diligently compiled appellate decisions in which the court of appeals struck down actions by the same circuit court judge who sentenced him here, none have any bearing on the issue before this Court. He cites *Horn*, *State v. Burchfield*, 230 Wis. 2d 348, 602 N.W.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1999), and *State v. Schell*, 2003 WI App 78, 261 Wis. 2d 841, 661 N.W.2d 503, for where the circuit court improperly straddled the line between judicial and executive roles by deciding that it was authorized to revoke probation, declaring the statutes vesting DOC with revocation authority unconstitutional and dictating how a sheriff's office must administer a probationer's jail term. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 13–16.)

Those decisions do not help Williams-Holmes for the same reason that his statutory argument fails. The whole

Filed 01-25-2023

point he attempts to make from those cases assumes the premise he must prove: that what the circuit court did by ordering the condition in his case constituted administering probation and extended supervision. But *Horn*, Burchfield, and Schell do not support that underlying premise; those cases just reinforce that the responsibilities statutorily vested to DOC and other executive entities revoking a probationer's probation or deciding how an inmate will serve his jail sentence—are responsibilities left to the executive branch, not the judicial branch.

Nothing in Horn, Burchfield, or Schell even hints that a court's exercise of its statutory authority under Wis. Stat. 302.113(7m) or 973.09(3) constitutes administering probation or extended supervision, regardless of the impact the modified conditions may have on the affected individual's day-to-day life. While Horn described a general line at sentencing where the judicial branch's work often ends and the executive branch's begins, Horn, 226 Wis. 2d at 650, the case did not address the judiciary's statutory ability to modify conditions after sentencing has concluded. Indeed, if a court exercising its authority under Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(7m) or 973.09(3) constitutes unlawful intrusion upon DOC's responsibilities, then *Linse*, which empowered courts to use that authority to modify those DOC supervision rules deemed inconsistent with its probationary plan, was clearly wrongly decided. In short, Williams-Holmes offers no caselaw prohibiting the circuit court from considering any future requests as part of a sentence modification motion.

Additionally, requiring Williams-Holmes to petition the circuit court for permission to live with women and unrelated children does not violate the separation of government powers; rather, it reinforces it. He correctly points out that circuit courts would lack authority to place an offender on probation or extended supervision and set conditions of each

Filed 01-25-2023

but for the legislature enacting statutes authorizing as such, (Williams-Holmes's Br. 12), yet he seemingly ignores that the same legislature that vested DOC with exclusive authority to administer probation and extended supervision also vested circuit courts with the authority to set or modify supervision conditions after DOC assumed control over the offender. Wis. Stat. §§ 301.03(3), 302.113(7m), 973.09(3).

Presumably, the legislature knew what it was doing when it enacted those statutes that created probation and extended supervision, authorized courts to order either, empowered DOC to administer either, and granted courts authority to modify supervision conditions after DOC had assumed control over the offender. In that way, the abovereferenced statutes afford circuit courts and DOC some vital checks on the other's authority, permitting courts to impose or modify conditions after-the-fact to ensure that its sentencing vision is honored while simultaneously entrusting the department to dictate how those conditions will best be enforced.

Moreover, to the extent that Williams-Holmes suggests that his supervision condition presents due process problems, his concerns are overblown. He points to Hays, 173 Wis. 2d 439, for the due process protections a defendant maintains when a court intends to modify supervision conditions. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 19–20.) Given those requirements, he complains that the condition makes it "truly impractical" and "redundant" for him to seek modification as the court of appeals contemplated. (Williams-Holmes's Br. 19.)

His argument is unpersuasive for several reasons. First and foremost, the circuit court's willingness to modify his supervision conditions to relax his residential limitations to his benefit does not implicate the same due process concerns as in Hays, where the anticipated modification was more intrusive, forcing a probationer to sit in jail for six months. In

Filed 01-25-2023

that case, it was appropriate to safeguard a probationer's due process rights given the additional restrictions placed on his liberty. Even so, neither impracticality nor redundancy renders a supervision condition unlawful, and if the court must hold a hearing with testimony every time Williams-Holmes wishes to live with a different woman, that is a small price for him to pay to live with those who he has battered and falsely imprisoned in the past.

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